8-56808

No. 42502-5-II

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUE ANN GORMAN,

Plaintiff/Respondent/Cross-Appellant,

vs.

PIERCE COUNTY,

Defendant/Appellant/Cross-Respondent.

SUE ANN GORMAN'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

**TROUP, CHRISTNACHT, LADENBURG, McKASY, DURKIN & SPEIR, INC., P.S.** Shelly K. Speir, WSBA # 27979 Of Attorneys for Sue Ann Gorman

6602 19<sup>th</sup> Street West Tacoma, Washington 98466 (253) 564-2111



## **

## A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Sue Ann Gorman asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this Petition.

## **B.** COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Ms. Gorman asks that this Court review the portion of the August 13, 2013 opinion in which the Court of Appeals determined that Ms. Gorman waived her argument regarding her legal duty by failing to raise it in her original motion under CR 50 (see Published Opinion at A-19 – A-20). A copy of the Court of Appeals' opinion is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-29.

### C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did Ms. Gorman preserve the issue of her legal duty for purposes of appeal when the issue is one of pure law, Ms. Gorman raised the issue in a post-trial motion under CR 50, Pierce County substantively responded to and the trial court ruled on Ms. Gorman's post-trial motion, and review of the issue is needed to prevent a manifest injustice?

### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Sue Gorman was severely mauled by two pit bulls who entered her bedroom via an open pet door and who attacked her as she slept in her bed. Published Opinion at A-1 - A6. She brought suit against Pierce County and the dogs' owners, Shellie R. Wilson, Zachary Martin, and Jacqueline Evans-Hubbard. *Id*.at A-6.

Ms. Gorman objected to all jury instructions on comparative or contributory negligence, including the special verdict form. RP 1351-53. At the close of evidence at trial, Ms. Gorman moved for a directed verdict on the issue of comparative or contributory negligence under CR 50. CP 1427-51. The motion was denied. RP 1463-66. In its verdict, the jury assessed 1% comparative fault to Ms. Gorman. CP 902-04.

After the verdict was entered, Ms. Gorman moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict on the issue of her comparative negligence, asking that the jury's determination of 1% fault be stricken. CP 1467-94. Ms. Gorman argued specifically that she was under no statutory or common law duty to keep her pet door closed, and that her actions once the pit bull attack commenced were reasonable. *Id.*; 9/15/11 RP 5-14. Only Defendant Evans-Hubbard objected to the inclusion of this issue in Ms. Gorman's motion. CP 1496-98; CP 1505-06. Defendant Pierce County did not object, but provided a substantive response. CP 1495-99; RP 1463-66.

The trial court denied the motion, refusing to rule on the purely legal issue of Ms. Gorman's duty:

I will tell you that I find a lot of what Mr. McKasy says

about leaving the door open rather compelling, not the – but it's not for this Court to decide policy decisions.

9/15/11 RP 27. See also CP 1532-34; 9/15/11 RP 26-30.

On appeal, Ms. Gorman argued that the trial court should have granted her post-trial CR 50 motion, that the issue of comparative fault should never have gone to the jury, and that comparative fault should have been stricken from the verdict. *See* Respondent's Brief at A-96 -- A-102. Evans-Hubbard objected, arguing that Ms. Gorman did not include the issue of her legal duty in her first CR 50 motion. Published Opinion at A-19. The Court of Appeals agreed with Evans-Hubbard and held that Ms. Gorman had waived the issue on appeal. *Id*.

## E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

RAP 13.4(b) provides in pertinent part:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: . . .

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The Supreme Court should accept review of this issue because the Court of Appeal's decision is not consistent with case authority decided under CR 50's federal counterpart. This divergence from federal law is an issue of substantial public interest.

CR 50 provides as follows:

If, during a trial by jury, a party has been fully heard with respect to an issue and there is no legally sufficient evidentiary basis for a reasonable jury to find or have found for that party with respect to that issue, the court may grant a motion for judgment as a matter of law against the party on any claim . . . .

If, for any reason, the court does not grant a motion for judgment as a matter of law made at the close of all the evidence, the court is considered to have submitted the action to the jury subject to the court's later deciding the legal questions raised by the motion. The movant may renew its request for judgment as a matter of law by filing a motion no later than 10 days after entry of judgment—and may alternatively request a new trial or join a motion for a new trial under rule 59....

CR 50(a) and (b).

When a Washington court rule is identical to the corresponding federal rule, Washington courts will look to federal case law for guidance in interpreting the Washington rule. *See, e.g., Soter v. Cowles Pub. Co.,* 162 Wn.2d 716, 739, 174 P.3d 60 (2007); *Carson v. Fine,* 123 Wn.2d 206, 223, 867 P.2d 610 (1994). *See also* Karl B. Tegland, 4 WASH. PRAC., Rules Practice CR 50, Drafters' Comment, 2005 Amendments (5<sup>th</sup> ed. 2012) ("In addition, it is beneficial in this situation to have Washington and federal practice be the same.").

Federal courts have held that the requirement that identical issues be raised in pre- and post-verdict CR 50 motions only applies in appeals based on the sufficiency of evidence, **not issues of law.** See, e.g., Bryant v. Dollar Gen. Corp., 538 F.3d 394, 397 n.2 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2008), cert. denied 555 U.S. 1138 (2009); Estate of Blume v. Marian Health Center, 516 F.3d 705, 707 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2008); Fuesting v. Zimmer, Inc., 448 F.3d 936, 939-41 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2006), cert. denied 549 U.S. 1180 (2007); Metcalf v. Bochco, 200 Fed Appx. 635, 637 n.1 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2006) (unpublished). See also Miller & Wright, 9B FED. PRAC. & PROC. CIV. § 2537 "Renewal of Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law after Trial" (3<sup>rd</sup> ed. 2012) ("Unitherm's rationale for renewal is that the judge who saw and heard the witnesses and has the feel of the case, rather than a new judge relying on an appellate printed transcript, should decide whether a new trial should be granted or a judgment entered under Rule 50(b). This rationale does not apply to purely legal questions.") (emphasis added).

The cases relied upon by the Court of Appeals were distinguishable and did not address the proper procedure to follow when a purely legal question is presented after a verdict is rendered. Specifically, in *Washburn v. City of Federal Way*, 169 Wn. App. 588, 283 P.3d 567 (2012), *rev. granted* 176 Wn.2d 1010 (2013), the City failed to renew its CR 50(a) motion after the verdict, and did not object to the jury instruction relating to its duty. *Id.* at 611-15. The court there concluded that because of the City's failures, the issue for purposes of CR 50 was not one of pure law, but related to the sufficiency of the factual evidence. *Id.* at 615. In the present case, Ms. Gorman **did** make a post-trial CR 50 motion and objected to the jury instructions relating to comparative fault. Thus, *Washburn* is not on all fours and the Court of Appeals should not have relied on the case in its opinion.

In Hanks v. Grace, 167 Wn. App. 542, 273 P.3d 1029 (2012), rev. denied 175 Wn.2d 1017 (2012), the court did not address what rules would apply if a purely legal issue were presented. Thus, the case provides no guidance.

The Court of Appeals concluded that Ms. Gorman raised a "new theory" in her post-trial CR 50 motion, relying on *Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I*, 144 Wn.2d 172, 23 P.3d 440 (2001), *overruled on other grounds by McClarty v. Totem Elec.*, 157 Wn.2d 214, 137 P.3d 844 (2006). However, in that case, the plaintiff had initially requested relief based on a failure to provide reasonable accommodation. *Id.* at 193 n.20. For the first time in a post-trial CR 50 motion, the plaintiff raised a completely new basis for relief—wrongful discharge. *Id.* That is unlike the case at bar, where in both the initial CR 50 motion and in the post-trial CR 50 motion Ms. Gorman raised the same theory: comparative fault. Ms. Gorman did not raise any "new theory" in her post-trial motion, so *Hill* is inapplicable.

Likewise, the case of Browne v. Cassidy, 46 Wn. App. 267, 728

P.2d 1388 (1986), is inapplicable. There, the plaintiff failed to request jury instructions on the issue of partnership liability, or move for a directed verdict on the issue of partnership liability. *Id.* at 269. The case went to the jury on ordinary negligence. *Id.* The plaintiff raised the issue of partnership liability in a post-trial CR 50 motion, which was denied. *Id.* at 269-70. Here, Ms. Gorman objected to the jury instructions on comparative fault and raised the issue of comparative fault both before and after the verdict. *Browne* does not discuss how to handle a purely legal issue which is raised in a post-trial CR 50 motion. *Id.* The case offers no guidance.

Here, the existence of a duty on Ms. Gorman's part was purely a question of law. *Christensen v. Royal School Dist. No. 160*, 156 Wn.2d 62, 66, 124 P.3d 283 (2005). Under the federal authorities cited above, the fact that Ms. Gorman raised the issue in one, but not both, of her CR 50 motions did not preclude the Court of Appeals from reviewing the issue.

Furthermore, even if Ms. Gorman's raising "duty" for the first time in her post-trial motion was objectionable, only one of the Defendants (Evans-Hubbard) actually objected. CP 1496-98; CP 1505-06. The Defendant who did not object, Pierce County, provided a substantive response and the trial court ruled on the motion. CP 1495-99; CP 1532-34; RP 1463-66. Thus, according to federal authorities, Pierce County has

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW - 7 H:\xshare\sks\Gorman.appeal\supreme court\petition for disc rev.sup ct.docx waived the objection on appeal. *Finjan, Inc. v. Secure Computing Corp.*, 626 F.3d 1197, 1203 (Fed. Cir. 2010); *Wallace v. McGlothan*, 606 F.3d 410, 418-19 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2010); *Howard v. Walgreen Co.*, 605 F.3d 1239, 1243-44 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2010), *cert. denied* 132 S. Ct. 1795 (2012); *Art Attacks Ink, LLC v. MGA Entertainment*, 581 F.3d 1138, 1143 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2009). At the very least, the Court of Appeals should have considered the issue of Ms. Gorman's legal duty as between herself and Pierce County. The Court of Appeals did not address Pierce County's failure to object in its opinion.

Finally, an appellate court can review an issue that was not raised in a motion for judgment as a matter of law if needed to prevent a "manifest injustice." *Clergeau v. Local 1181,* 162 Fed. Appx. 32, 34 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 2005) (unpublished); *Rodick v. City of Schenactady,* 1 F.3d 1341, 1347 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 1993). *See also* Miller & Wright, 9B FED. PRAC. & PROC. CIV. § 2537 "Renewal of Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law after Trial" (3<sup>rd</sup> ed. 2012). "Manifest injustice" occurs when a jury's verdict wholly lacks legal support. *Pahuta v. Massey-Ferguson, Inc.,* 170 F.3d 125, 129 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 1999).

Here, the Defendants provided no authority for the proposition that Ms. Gorman owed a duty to close her back door in the morning when she had only seen Betty and Tank loose in the afternoons and early evenings, and she had no way of knowing that Betty and Tank would enter her home and attack her while she was sleeping. Based on "mixed considerations of 'logic, common sense, justice, policy, and precedent,'" Ms. Gorman owed no duty to close her back door. *Christensen*, 156 Wn.2d at 66.

> In particular, the plaintiff may not be required to surrender a valuable right or privilege merely because the defendant's conduct threatens him with what would otherwise be an unreasonable risk. Because the defendant builds a powder mill or runs a railroad near his property, he need not abandon it, or take special precautions against fire. He is not to be deprived of the free, ordinary and proper use of his land because his neighbor is negligent, and he may leave the responsibility to the defendant.

William L. Prosser, THE HANDBOOK OF THE LAW OF TORTS § 65,

"Contributory Negligence," p. 425 (4<sup>th</sup> ed. 1971). To allow the jury's finding of comparative negligence to stand when Ms. Gorman owed no legal duty would result in a manifest injustice. The Court of Appeals did not address "manifest injustice" in its opinion.

## F. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Ms. Gorman requests that the Court accept review, find that Ms. Gorman preserved the issue of her legal duty for appeal, reverse the Court of Appeals in part, find that Ms. Gorman owed no legal duty to close her pet door, and strike the jury's assessment of 1% comparative fault. Respectfully submitted this 12<sup>th</sup> day of September, 2013.

## TROUP, CHRISTNACHT, LADENBURG, McKASY, DURKIN & SPEIR, INC., P.S.

SHELLY K. SPEIR, WSBA # 27979 Of Attorneys for Petitioner

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW - 10 H:\Xshare\sks\Gorman.appeal\supreme court\petition for disc rev.sup ct.docx

FILED COURT OF APPEALS **DIVISION II** 

2013 AUG 13 AM 10: 27

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### **DIVISION II**

SUE ANN GORMAN, a single person,

Respondent/Cross Appellant,

v.

PIERCE COUNTY, a county corporation; SHELLIE R. WILSON and "JOHN DOE" WILSON, husband and wife and the marital community composed thereof; ZACHARY MARTIN and "JANE DOE" MARTIN, husband and wife and the marital community composed thereof; and JACQUELINE EVANS-HUBBARD and "JOHN DOE" HUBBARD, husband and wife and the marital community composed thereof,

#### Appellants/Cross Respondents.

No. 42502-5-II consolidated with No. 42594-7-II

#### PUBLISHED OPINION