NO. 89323-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

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

IV. Argument Why Review Should Be Denied

The Supreme Court will only accept a petition for review under four circumstances:

- 1) The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court;
- 2) The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with another decision of the Court of Appeals;
- 3) The petition raises a significant question of Washington or United States constitutional law; or
- 4) The petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Gorman seeks review under only RAP 13.4(b)(4). The petition, however, does not meet the jurisdictional requirements noted above as the lower courts applied well-established Washington law, and the foreign case law that Gorman relies upon would not warrant reversal, even if the Court were inclined to consider foreign case law when there is relevant Washington law. The Court of Appeals decision was correct, and implicates no substantial public interest that would warrant this Court's review.

A. Review Is Not Justified Under RAP 13.4(b)(4) – The Court of Appeals' Correct Application of Washington Law Does Not Implicate a Substantial Public Interest

Gorman's petition should be denied for both procedural and substantive reasons. First, she did not raise the lack of duty argument before the case went to the jury. Her only argument from pre-trial motions through arguments on the instructions and her motion for a directed verdict³ was that defendants Wilson and Evans-Hubbard were not entitled to argue comparative fault because they were strictly liable under the "dog bite statute," relying on pre-Tort Reform case law. It was not until her post-trial motion for JNOV that Gorman argued she had no duty to "close her door," and the other arguments she raised at the Court of Appeals. However, a CR 50(b) JNOV motion is too late to raise an argument or issue for the first time. A motion for JNOV is supposed to be a renewal of a prior motion filed under CR 50(a), not a second chance to raise issues and arguments not presented to the Court before the case went to the jury.

Second, even if the Court were inclined to agree that a party should be permitted to raise new arguments in a post-trial CR 50(b) motion, such a holding would not help Gorman here because she would have lost on the

³Gorman used the pre-1993 terms 'motion for directed verdict' and motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict below instead of the current terminology "judgment as a matter of law." The older terms are used here simply for consistency and ease of reference.

merits even if the untimely argument had been considered. Testimony at trial, including that of Gorman herself, provided sufficient evidence from which the jury could, and did, find comparative fault.

1. Gorman's "lack of duty" argument was a new argument, made for the first time after the verdict.

In her pre-trial motion for directed verdict, Gorman did not raise the arguments presented on appeal and in her post-trial JNOV motion. Only 15 lines of the 18 page motion for directed verdict were devoted to arguing for a directed verdict on comparative fault as to all defendants. CP 1434 l. 17-23, 1435, l. 1-8. Gorman's argument, in its entirety, was that Rick Russell and Zachary Martin testified that they also left their doors open for their dogs and that defendants did not put on any testimony "suggesting that Ms. Gorman's practice of leaving her sliding door open was unreasonable under the circumstances." CP 1435. Gorman also cited to her testimony that a nail in the door probably would not have kept the dogs out. The "argument" concluded with a statement that "the only reasonable conclusion...is that Ms. Gorman's failure to put a nail in her sliding door was not unreasonable..." CP 1436.

Before the verdict, there was no mention of duty of any kind, much less of absence of a duty to keep the door closed under the facts described above. Gorman essentially argued there was insufficient evidence of

comparative fault, never raising the question of whether she had a duty. Gorman claimed on appeal that the trial court should have ruled as a matter of law that Ms. Gorman had no legal duty to keep her sliding door closed. The problem with this argument is that this request was never made to the trial court until after the verdict. Gorman never argued absence of duty at any point during the trial, including the motion for directed verdict. By waiting to make this argument until after the verdict was entered, Gorman prevented the trial court from having an opportunity to rule on the issue of duty, just as she prevented defendants for arguing to the court that there was a duty of ordinary care and presenting the arguments and evidence that Gorman violated that duty. Gorman's appeal from the CR 50(b) order denying her motion for judgment as a matter of law was properly denied because her CR 50(b) motion was improper as a matter of law.

CR 50(b) provides:

Renewing Motion for Judgment After Trial: Alternative Motion for New Trial. If, for any reason, the court does not grant a motion for judgment as a matter of law made at the close of the evidence, the court is considered to have submitted the action to the jury, subject to the court's later deciding the legal questions raised by the motion. The movant may renew its request for judgment as a matter of law by filing a motion no later than 10 days after entry of judgment—and may alternatively request a new trial or join a motion for a new trial under rule 59....

The rule makes clear that a CR 50(b) motion is a renewal of a prior motion, not a new motion on issues and arguments not previously raised before the case went to the jury. Comments to the 2005 amendment of the rule emphasize the need for the same argument to be raised before the verdict:

Third, the suggested amendments to CR 50(b) replace the existing section with the language of Fed. R. Civ. P. 50(b) regarding motions for judgment as a matter of law after trial. This suggested amendment changes Washington practice and requires that a motion for judgment as a matter of law be made before submission of the case to the jury as a condition to renewing the motion postverdict. The Committee concluded that requiring a motion for judgment as a matter of law before the case is submitted to the jury enhances the administration of justice because the parties and/or the court can correct possible errors before verdict. Absent such a motion before submission of the case to the jury, a party may not bring a motion for judgment as a matter of law thereafter. In addition, it is beneficial in this situation to have Washington and federal practice be the same.

(emphasis added). Allowing a party to raise new issues or arguments in a CR 50(b) post-trial motion would defeat the purpose of the rule by depriving the trial court of the opportunity to correct any errors.

Consistent with Washington cases such as *Hanks v. Grace*, 167 Wn. App. 542, 273 P.2d 1029 (2012), and *Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I*, 144 Wn.2d 172, 23 P.3d 440 (2001) (overruled on other grounds by *McClarty v. Totem Elec.*, 157 Wn.2d 214, 137 P.3d 844 (2006)), there are

numerous federal decisions holding that new issues and arguments cannot be raised in a post-trial motion for judgment as a matter of law. None of the cases cited by Gorman in her petition are to the contrary. When a Washington Court Rule is the same as the corresponding federal rule, the Washington courts look to federal case law for guidance in interpreting the Washington rule. See, e.g., *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 112 Wash. 2d 216, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). CR 50 is virtually identical to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure (FRCP) 50, making cases interpreting FRCP valuable in applying CR 50.

Wright & Miller offer a detailed discussion of FRCP 50, then state that:

The district court only can grant the rule 50(b) motion on the grounds advanced in the preverdict motion, because the former is conceived of as only a renewal of the latter.

* * * *

...since the post-submission motion is nothing more than a renewal of the earlier motion made at the close of the presentation of the evidence, the case law makes it quite clear that the movant cannot assert a ground that was not included in the earlier motion.

9B Wright & Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure, § 2537 at pp. 603-4, 606 (citing *Unitherm Food Sys. Inc. v. Swift-Eckrich, Inc.*, 546 U.S. 394, 126 S.Ct. 980 (2006)).

The precise claim made in the CR 50(b) motion *must* have been made in a CR 50(a) motion for directed verdict. A motion for JNOV based on other grounds does not satisfy Rule 50(b). *Johnson v. Rogers*, 621 F.2d 300, 305 (8th Cir. 1980); *Wall v. United States*, 592 F.2d 154, 159-60 (3d Cir. 1979); *Sulmeyer v. Coca Cola Co.*, 515 F.2d 835, 846 (5th Cir. 1975); *Baltimore & Carolina Line v. Redman*, 295 U.S. 654, 55 S.Ct. 890 (1935); *U. S. Industries, Inc. v. Blake Const. Co., Inc.* 671 F.2d 539, 548, 217 U.S.App.D.C. 33, 42 (C.A.D.C., 1982).

In *Smith v. Lightning Bolt Productions, Inc.*, 861 F.2d 363, 367-368 (2d Cir. 1988), the court followed the general rule and denied a motion for JNOV, stating:

so far as we can determine from the record, defendants are procedurally barred from relying on this contention in their attack on the judgment. Generally a party is not entitled to judgment n.o.v. on any ground that he has not raised in a motion for a directed verdict, see, e.g., *Baskin v. Hawley*, 807 F.2d 1120, 1129-30 (2d Cir.1986); 5A Moore's Federal Practice ¶ 50.08, at 50-74 to 50-75 (2d ed. 1988), and the directed verdict motion must have "state[d] the specific grounds therefor," Fed.R.Civ.P. 50(a). The purpose of the requirement of specificity is to give the claimant a fair "opportunity to cure the defects in proof that might otherwise preclude him from taking the case to the jury." 5A Moore's Federal Practice ¶ 50.08, at 50-77.

The Court found no evidence that the *Smith* defendants moved for a directed verdict on the basis that there was a lack of proof of a misrepresentation about their financial condition. The argument that there

was "no intent to deceive" and the statement "I don't believe there is any evidence before this Jury of fraud" were insufficient to raise the issue of lack of a misrepresentation before the case went to the jury and thus could not be raised in a post-trial motion.

Similarly, and contrary to Gorman's argument, it is not enough that in a CR 50(a) motion she raised <u>different</u> arguments relating to defendants' comparative fault defense – CR 50(b) requires that <u>exactly the same argument</u> must have been raised in a CR 50(a) motion before verdict. She admits that, before trial, she never argued that she had no duty, and this fact alone requires denial of her petition. Lack of duty was a new argument, precisely the sort of attempted post-verdict maneuver which is impermissible under *Hanks* and *Hill*.

Gorman asserts that a number of "[f]ederal courts have held that the requirement that identical issues be raised in pre- and post-verdict CR 50 motions only applies in appeals based on the sufficiency of evidence, not issues of law[,]" and cites to some federal cases. Petition, pp. 4-5. Gorman's argument is incorrect. Even the cases she relies upon have not held that a party can raise a new legal argument for the first time post-verdict — rather, those cases, to the extent they even apply FRCP 50, discussed whether a party which unsuccessfully raised an issue pre-verdict had to renew that rejected pre-verdict argument in a post-verdict motion

for JNOV in order to preserve the issue for appeal. Not requiring renewal post-trial of a rejected pre-verdict argument is a very different thing than permitting a new argument to be raised for the first time in a post-trial motion for JNOV.

Contrary to Gorman's argument, the Court of Appeals' decision here does not conflict with, or even diverge from, foreign case law discussing FRCP 50. Rather, the foreign case law relied upon by Gorman simply does not support her argument, would not support reversal, and provides no basis for this Court to accept review. The trial court properly rejected Gorman's effort to raise a new "lack of duty" argument for the first time in a post-trial CR 50(b) motion, and the Court of Appeals correctly found that Gorman waived this argument which forms the sole basis upon which she now seeks discretionary review by this Court.

2. Everyone, including Gorman, has a duty to use ordinary care for their own safety, and she was at fault here.

In any event, even if the issue had been timely raised at the trial court such that it had been preserved for appeal, the Court of Appeals would still have affirmed because Gorman had the same duty that all people have – to exercise reasonable care for her own safety – and the Court of Appeals correctly found sufficient evidence of her breach of that duty, and proximate cause, to support the jury's comparative fault finding.

Gorman mischaracterizes the issue in asserting that she "was under no duty to keep her pet door closed" and had no "duty to close her back door in the morning when she had only seen Betty and Tank loose in the afternoons and early evenings[.]" Petition pp. 2, 8. Duty is not so narrowly or so specifically defined. Gorman's duty, like that of every plaintiff and every defendant, was to use ordinary care for her own safety. Washington adopted contributory fault as the method for apportioning damages between a negligent plaintiff and a negligent defendant in 1981. RCW 4.22.005, et. seq.. "Fault" is defined as including "unreasonable failure to avoid an injury...." RCW 4.22.015. This language clearly recognizes that there is a duty to use reasonable care to avoid injury. Failure to do so is contributory negligence. Determining the percentage of total fault attributable to each party, "including the claimant or person suffering personal injury," is specifically reserved for the trier of fact. *Id*.

This same duty is expressed in WPI Civil Instruction 10.2, which was given to the jury in this case without objection:

Ordinary care means the care a reasonably careful person would exercise under the same or similar circumstances.

The Committee on pattern instructions recommends that no additional instruction be given as to the duty of ordinary care of a plaintiff because:

Under Washington law, the contributory negligence of a plaintiff constitutes an affirmative defense. The subject is adequately covered by the use of WPI 10.02, Ordinary Care—Adult—Definition, and WPI 11.01, Contributory Negligence—Definition.

The jury was properly asked to evaluate the evidence using this standard and concluded that there was evidence of negligence by Gorman, awarding her 1% comparative fault.

In determining whether a plaintiff was comparatively at fault, the inquiry is whether or not the person exercised that reasonable care for his or her own safety that a reasonable person would have used under the existing facts or circumstances, and, if not, whether such conduct was a legally contributing cause of the injury. See, e.g., Huston v. First Church of God, of Vancouver, 46 Wn. App. 740, 747, 732 P.2d 173 (1987). A plaintiff's negligence relates to a failure to use due care for his or her own protection whereas a defendant's negligence relates to a failure to use due care for the safety of others. See Geschwind v. Flanagan, 121 Wn.2d 833, 854 P.2d 1061 (1993). "Ordinarily, the existence of contributory negligence is a factual question to be resolved by the jury." Young v. Caravan Corp., 99 Wn.2d 655, 661, 663 P.2d 834, 672 P.2d 1267 (1983). Consequently, a finding of contributory negligence as a matter of law should be made only in the clearest of cases and when reasonable minds could not differ in interpreting a factual pattern. Bordynoski v. Bergner, 97 Wn.2d 335, 340, 644 P.2d 1173 (1982).

In ruling on a motion for judgment as a matter of law,

the moving party's evidence will be disregarded and the nonmoving party's evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom will be accepted as true. Further, it has been said that the nonmoving party is not bound by his or her own unfavorable evidence and "is entitled to have his case submitted to the jury on the basis of the evidence which is most favorable to his contention."

Spring v. Department of Labor and Industries, 96 Wn.2d 914, 640 P.2d 1 (1982) (citation omitted). The standard of review on appeal is de novo:

A motion for judgment as a matter of law admits the truth of the opponent's evidence and all inferences that can reasonably be drawn from it. "Granting a motion for judgment as a matter of law is appropriate when, viewing the evidence most favorable to the nonmoving party, the court can say, as a matter of law, there is no substantial evidence or reasonable inference to sustain a verdict for the nonmoving party." If any justifiable evidence exists on which reasonable minds might reach conclusions consistent with the verdict, the issue is for the jury.

Mega v. Whitworth College, 138 Wn. App. 661, 668, 158 P.3d 1211, 1214 - 1215 (2007) (citations omitted). As with a pre-verdict CR 50(a) motion, a CR 50(b) post-trial motion for judgment as a matter of law is granted only when the court finds as a matter of law that there is no evidence to support the verdict. Aluminum Co. of Am. v. Aetna Cas. & Surety Co., 140 Wn.2d 517, 529, 998 P.2d 856 (2000). Evidence is sufficient to support the verdict if it would persuade a "fair-minded, reasonable person of the truth of the declared premise." Bishop of Victoria Corp. Sale v. Corporate

Business Park, LLC, 138 Wn. App. 443, 158 P.3d 1183 (2007). It is error to grant a CR 50(b) motion where evidence presented by the non-moving party, even if inconsistent, contains inferences the jury is entitled to believe and which support the verdict. Weitz v. Wagner, 67 Wn.2d 300, 487 P.2d 456 (1965).

Gorman no longer asserts that there was no evidence of negligence on her part. But in any event, as the Court of Appeals found, there was substantial evidence that Gorman failed to use "the care a reasonable person would use under the same circumstances."

A reasonably prudent person in the same situation, believing that Betty was the threat Gorman made her out to be, would not have left her door open to allow her own dog to wander in and out because, clearly, Betty could use the same method of entry. Gorman herself realized this before she was involved in this litigation when she told the press that it was a mistake not to have the nail in the door. Betty was unable to get into the house, on her prior "25 to 50" attempts, when the sliding door was closed, despite "lunging" at the door and windows. It is indisputable therefore that Betty would not have been able to get into the house on August 21 had Gorman simply closed the sliding door. A homeowner may not be legally required to close exterior doors at night, but the homeowner faces the risk of being found at fault for failing to do so when

there is a known risk in the neighborhood. Whether it was reasonable to leave the door open at night under these circumstances was a question of fact for the jury to decide. The jury's apportionment of 1% of the fault to Ms. Gorman is not a "manifest injustice" – to the contrary, it is not a surprising outcome given Ms. Gorman's own testimony about events leading up to the August 21 incident.

V. Conclusion

There is no need for this court to review the issue raised by Gorman's petition. Her petition is deficient in that the Court of Appeals correctly applied CR 50, no case law interpreting either CR 50 or FRCP 50 would support her effort to raise a new argument for the first time post-trial, and the Court of Appeals' correct application of CR 50 does not implicate "an issue of substantial public interest" that requires resolution by this Court. The only argument raised in her petition was waived when she failed to present it to the trial court until after the verdict. Moreover, had Gorman timely argued pre-trial that she had no duty of care, the record makes clear that the trial court would correctly have rejected that argument, and that the Court of Appeals would still have affirmed the jury verdict. Accordingly, Evans-Hubbard respectfully requests that this Court deny Gorman's petition for review.